IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

AARON LEIDER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

JOHN LEWIS, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUL 2 7 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B244414



OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Michael N. Feuer, City Attorney (No. 111529)
John A. Carvalho, Deputy City Attorney (No. 189895)
200 N. Main Street, City Hall East 7th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90012
(213) 978-8184; john.carvalho@lacity.org

Kathryn E. Karcher (No. 125073)

Karcher Harmes PS

401 B Street, Suite 2450

San Diego, California 92101

(206) 335-1631; kathryn@karcherappeals.com

I. ISSUES PRESENTED.

- 1. Does Civil Code section 3369 bar taxpayer actions brought under the authority of Code of Civil Procedure section 526a seeking to enjoin violations of Penal Code provisions concerning animal abuse?
- 2. Does the law of the case doctrine foreclose petitioners' reliance upon that legal argument in this appeal?

II. INTRODUCTION.

A Los Angeles taxpayer sued a city and its employee, seeking to close the city's new \$42 million elephant exhibit at its zoo, because of alleged crimes against elephants. The taxpayer, Aaron Leider, claims standing under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a, while the City of Los Angeles (City) and John Lewis assert his action is barred by Civil Code section 3369.1

Civil Code section 3369: Under section 3369, equitable relief cannot be granted "to enforce a penal law, except in the case of nuisance or as otherwise provided by law." Taxpayer

¹ This brief refers to individuals by their last names after an initial reference, the City and Lewis are sometimes referred to as "City" or "defendants," and the Los Angeles Zoo is referred to as "LA Zoo."

actions, which authorize equitable remedies to restrain illegal expenditures by state and local governments, could be an exception to this prohibition if, like nuisance and unfair competition, the Legislature authorized it. It could have done this by including taxpayer actions in section 3369, as it did with nuisance and unfair competition, or in Code of Civil Procedure section 526a. Finding exceptions to section 3369 only where the Legislature has made them clear by "declaration" minimizes the insidious collateral effects on the rights of those accused of crimes in equity. (*People v. Lim* (1941) 18 Cal.2d 872, 879-880 (*Lim*).)

The Legislature has not declared taxpayer actions are an exception to the bar of Civil Code section 3369, despite having the opportunity three times when the question was before it. This indicates the Legislature intended to leave the law as it stood at the time of enactment or amendment, when taxpayer actions were not excepted. (See Cole v. Rush (1955) 45 Cal.2d 345, 355 (Cole), overruled on another ground in Vesely v. Sager (1971) 5 Cal.3d 153; Torres v. Automobile Club of Southern California (1997) 15 Cal.4th 771, 779 (Torres).) Without an express declaration, the Supreme Court should not imply an exception to

section 3369 for taxpayer actions. (*Lim, supra,* 18 Cal.2d at pp. 879-880.)

This case squarely presents the foregoing concerns. The City and Lewis were tried in equity for several animal cruelty crimes. Lewis testified against himself without a jury and under the preponderance standard of proof. The court found he and the City violated Penal Code section 597t and entered injunctions against them. According to the dissent: "The majority's decision in this case will empower Leider to bring endless contempt proceedings against the ... LA Zoo" (Leider v. Lewis (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1078, 1107 (dis. opn. of Bigelow, P.J.) (Leider).) In those proceedings, Leider will be the prosecutor and Lewis may be fined and imprisoned for violating the injunctions. The Legislature enacted Civil Code section 3369 so this scenario would not come to pass and this court decided Nathan H. Schur v. City of Santa Monica (1956) 47 Cal.2d 11 (Schur), so it would not happen in taxpayer actions.

Law of the case: The law of the case doctrine does not preclude the City and Lewis from asserting Civil Code section 3369 bars Leider's action. The issue section 3369 presents was

not decided explicitly or implicitly in the first appeal, which decided that Leider's claim was justiciable because Penal Code section 596.5 provided a legal standard to test the claim. Whether a taxpayer may enjoin government from committing crimes was not a basis of the first appeal. If it was, the exception to the doctrine for an unjust decision applies.

The Supreme Court should hold that Civil Code section 3369 bars this action, Code of Civil Procedure section 526a is not an exception to it, and law of the case does not preclude the City and Lewis from asserting it. They respectfully request the court to direct that judgment be entered for them.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL SUMMARY.

A. Factual Summary.

1. The Parties.

Leider lives in the city and pays taxes there; the City operates the LA Zoo. (1 CT 39; 5 RT 735-736.) Lewis has been the LA Zoo's Director since 2003 and still holds that position. (7 RT 1375, 1379.) He reports to the City's mayor. (7 RT 1376.)

2. The LA Zoo.

The LA Zoo holds a Class C license issued by the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). (7 RT 1376.) The USDA ensures compliance with the federal Animal Welfare Act by institutions that exhibit mammals. (7 RT 1376.) The USDA conducts a physical inspection as part of its annual certification process. (7 RT 1377.) The LA Zoo's new elephant exhibit opened to the public in December 2010. (5 RT 745.) By the time of trial in May 2012, the USDA had inspected the new exhibit three times, including one month before trial. It found "no non-complaint items." (7 RT 1377-1378.)

The LA Zoo is also accredited by the Association of Zoos and Aquariums, or AZA. (7 RT 1378.) The AZA reviews all aspects of zoo operations during a rigorous accreditation process every five years. (7 RT 1378-1379.) If a problem arises during that period, the AZA can re-inspect and revoke an institution's accreditation. (7 RT 1379.)

3. The City Council Twice Voted to Build the New Elephant Exhibit.

When Lewis arrived at the LA Zoo in 2003, a new elephant exhibit was already being planned. (7 RT 1379.) Initially, it was

shelved because of cost and then redesigned to create more space for elephants. (7 RT 1379-1380.) A further re-design required City Council approval because of the project's changed scope. (7 RT 1380.) By that time Antonio Villaraigosa, the City's new mayor, asked that the proposed exhibit be evaluated to determine whether there should continue to be an elephant habitat at the LA Zoo. (7 RT 1380; exhibit 204, p. 19.)

The City's Chief Administrative Officer investigated the status of the LA Zoo's elephants, the elephant industry, and financial issues associated with building a new exhibit, and he ultimately recommended that the new exhibit be built. (7 RT 1381; exhibit 204, pp. 4, 1-16.)

In 2006, over organized opposition, the Los Angeles City
Council voted 13 to 2 to continue to exhibit elephants at the
LA Zoo and to build the Elephants of Asia exhibit (then known as
Pachyderm Forest) starting in 2007 at a cost of \$40 million. (1 CT
18; 5 RT 715-716; 7 RT 1380; exhibit 204, p. 6.) While the new
exhibit was under construction from 2008 to 2009, the City
Council reconsidered the project, including whether elephants
should remain at the LA Zoo, Billy (the LA Zoo's bull elephant)

should be sent elsewhere, and whether the now-\$42 million construction project should continue. (5 RT 716-717, 719-720; 7 RT 1382-1383.) After extensive committee and City Council hearings, the City Council voted to continue with construction. (5 RT 719-720; 7 RT 1383-1384.)

- 4. The Elephant Exhibit and the Elephants.
 - a. The Exhibit's Architectural Features.

The new elephant exhibit consists of a large barn with heated floors and padded stalls encircled by four yards. (5 RT 751-752, 760, 764, 768.) Their substrate is two feet of riverbed sand. (5 RT 747, 754-755, 762, 766.) The yards include enrichment devices such as boomer balls (5 RT 747, 754-756), a large sand pile (746, 748), a large hollow log into which items are placed for foraging (746, 748), and water features in every yard (5 RT 746-747, 752, 754, 761, 765). The elephants are excluded with electrified wire from planters to keep them from eating all the vegetation. (5 RT 753.) Subtracting these areas and including water features, 2.78 acres is accessible to elephants. (8 RT 1512-1513.) They typically have access to one or two yards at a time

because the LA Zoo's male and female elephants must be separated. (5 RT 770-771; 6 RT 925-926.)

Leider's expert Joyce Poole testified that the new exhibit is "much better" than the old one with its water features, sloped terrain, enrichment devices, and size, though it did not go nearly far enough. (4 RT 473-474.) The trial court singled Poole out as "far and away the most qualified witness at trial." (6 CT 1230.) Defense expert Jeff Andrews testified that the new exhibit is larger and "more state-of-the-art" than all but a few other exhibits in the country. (6 RT 1097.)

Leider presented evidence that the elephants' huge size compacted the soil and that compaction is related to smaller spaces. (3 RT 50, 74.) The exhibit's sand had become "compacted and densified" and as hard as concrete. (3 RT 66, 71, 73.) Hard substrates create the risk of injuring the elephants' joints, feet, and nails (6 CT 1223, 1226), with captive elephants inevitably developing foot problems from lack of exercise (6 CT 1236-1239). The trial court credited this evidence and it became the basis of the court's exercise and rototilling injunctions.

b. The LA Zoo's Elephants.

(1) Tina and Jewel Were Rescued From an Abusive Texas Home.

Tina and Jewel, 50 and 46 years old, respectively, at the time of trial, are former circus elephants that arrived at the LA Zoo in October 2010. (3 RT 112; 5 RT 789-790; 7 RT 1323.) In 2009 Andrews, then Assistant Curator of Mammals for all San Diego Zoo-related entities (San Diego Zoo), assisted the USDA with confiscating them from an abusive Texas home. (6 RT 1038, 1042, 1044.) They had been chained in a tiny area unable to interact or take more than a few steps in either direction (6 RT 1039-1040), and their physical condition was terrible (6 RT 1043-1044).

(2) The San Diego Zoo Selected the LA Zoo to Be Tina and Jewel's Home.

In the early 1990s, the San Diego Zoo developed the protected contact system of elephant management for safety reasons. (6 RT 1035-1036.) In protected contact, a physical barrier or restraint separates person from elephant to keep the person safer. (6 RT 1036.) "[T]he system ... employs a positive reinforcement trust-based training system, so the elephants are trained to want to cooperate" instead of being forced to by

physical dominance. (6 RT 1036.) At the time of trial, neither the USDA, AZA, nor the California Fish and Game Department required protected contact elephant management. (6 RT 1036.)

The San Diego Zoo took great care in evaluating whether the LA Zoo would be a good fit for Tina and Jewel, a decision to which the LA Zoo's long-standing protected-contact management of Billy was important. (6 RT 1046-1047, 1049-1051.) The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service gave the San Diego Zoo permission to send Tina and Jewel to the LA Zoo. (6 RT 1045-1047; 1049-1051.) The LA Zoo, unlike the San Diego Zoo, could keep the "very wellbonded" elephants together. (6 RT 1045.) Andrews then headed a San Diego Zoo team that extensively trained the LA Zoo's elephant keepers. (6 RT 1047-1049.) According to Andrews, the LA Zoo's protected contact system and its training, management, and elephant husbandry practices are state of the art. (6 RT 1097.) Those practices are stated in the LA Zoo's elephant care manual, which provides that only protected contact and positive reinforcement shall be used with the elephants. (Exhibit 264, pp. 4, 16-20, 27; 5 RT 782, 785-786 [protected contact and positive reinforcement are required].)

In late 2010 the two zoos entered into an AZA Exhibit Loan Agreement for Tina and Jewel. (Exhibit 220, pp. 1-4; 7 RT 1387-1388.) When they arrived at the LA Zoo, Jewel was still underweight and both elephants still had abscesses on their feet that resolved with further treatment. (5 RT 789-790.) Under the Agreement the San Diego Zoo retained ownership of Tina and Jewel. (Exhibit 220.) The Agreement specified that protected contact would be used on all LA Zoo elephants, and that it could not use or keep bullhooks. (Exhibit 220, p. 4, ¶¶ 2, 4.2.)

c. Billy Had Long Been Managed With Protected Contact.

Billy is an Asian elephant brought to the LA Zoo in 1989. (6 CT 1215.) He was 27 years old at the time of trial (5 RT 743) and had been managed solely with protected contact since he was eight years old (6 RT 997).

Before moving to the new exhibit, for eight years Billy had been kept on less than a half-acre. (6 RT 979.) In the new exhibit, Billy's muscle tone improved from exercise and walking on varied terrain. (6 RT 903.) According to Leider's expert, Billy looked to be "in very good condition" and his foot issues were being

addressed on a daily basis. (4 RT 418, 407; 7 RT 1370 [defense expert].)

d. The Elephants' Interactions With Each Other.

Billy is kept apart from Tina and Jewel for safety reasons but he is not in isolation, according to Leider's expert. (6 RT 926; 4 RT 377-378.) He is in their company across a barrier, and communicates significantly with them. (6 RT 926; 4 RT 377-378.) Bulls at PAWS (an elephant sanctuary to which Leider wants to send Billy) are also separated from females. (4 RT 378.)

Senior Elephant Keeper Vicky Guarnett testified that Tina, Jewel, and Billy interact often, and touch and caress each other through yard gates. (5 RT 792-793; 6 RT 901-902.) Poole testified that the elephants interacted just once during her six-hour observation of them. (4 RT 432, 439.)

B. Procedural Summary.

1. Leider Filed a Taxpayer Action, the Trial Court Granted Summary Judgment, and the Court of Appeal Reversed.

In 2007 Leider and Robert Culp filed a taxpayer action under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a, alleging the City and Leider were violating Penal Code section 596.5 by abusing

elephants. (1 CT 16.) The trial court granted summary judgment, which the Court of Appeal reversed. (Culp v. City of Los Angeles (Sept. 23, 2009, B208520) [nonpub. opn.] (Culp).)

2. Leider Amended His Complaint, Alleging the City and Lewis Committed Additional Crimes.

Leider filed a first amended complaint (complaint) that pled claims for injunctive and declaratory relief. (1 CT 49, 52.)

Culp had died, leaving Leider the sole plaintiff. (1 CT 38.) The complaint's opening lines stated that Leider sought to "enjoin illegal conduct, injury to elephants (City property) and waste"—the three bases for a taxpayer action under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a. (1 CT 38.) Leider alleged an injunction was necessary to prevent the LA Zoo from torturing and abusing elephants in violation of Penal Code sections 596.5, 597, and 597.1, and that the LA Zoo had been criminally abusing elephants for over 30 years. (1 CT 39 [¶ 5], 40 [¶ 8], 41 [¶¶ 9-10], 47 [¶ 31], 50-52, 54.) Leider raised Penal Code section 597t, on which the judgment is based, at trial. (4 CT 902.)

Leider sought an order enjoining the City from constructing the new elephant exhibit and a judicial declaration that the LA Zoo's old and new exhibits were "inadequate, illegal (abusive),

damaging and wasteful[.]" (1 CT 54.) Alternatively, Leider sought "an injunction prohibiting any past or reasonably anticipated conduct, as proven at trial, which would violate Penal Code sections 597, 597.1, or 596.5." (1 CT 54.)

Leider alleged that the LA Zoo "simply does not have the real estate" for an elephant exhibit and that its substrates are too hard for elephants. (1 CT 47 [¶ 32], 48 [¶¶ 35-36].) These physical characteristics, he alleged, constitute animal abuse in violation of Penal Code sections 597, 597.1, and 596.5, and it is therefore a crime for the City to maintain an elephant exhibit and an illegal expenditure of City funds under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a. (1 CT 50 [¶ 44].)

In addition to the elephant exhibit's criminal architectural features, Leider alleged that the LA Zoo has a history of criminally abusing elephants with "chains, drugs, bull hooks, [and] electric shock" (1 CT 41 [¶ 9]) and has killed over a dozen elephants by starvation, dehydration, lack of observation and medical care, and drug overdose (1 CT 42-47). "All of these abusive acts and omissions are illegal pursuant to Penal Code sections 597, 597.1 and section 596.5[.]" (1 CT 50 [¶ 44].)

3. The City and Lewis Asserted by Demurrer and Writ Petition That Civil Code Section 3369 Bars This Action.

The City and Lewis generally demurred to the complaint, arguing that courts may not use their equitable powers to enforce the Penal Code, a principle contained in Civil Code section 3369. (1 CT 60, 72-76; Code Civ. Proc., § 647.) The parties filed supplemental briefs after Leider asserted that a 1977 amendment to section 3369 would render it inapplicable to this case. (2 CT 293, 301, 303.) The trial court took judicial notice of the amendment's legislative history, and the Court of Appeal augmented the record to include it.²

The trial court overruled the demurrer (3 CT 558), and the City and Lewis petitioned for extraordinary review (*Lewis v. Superior Court*, B230233; Code Civ. Proc., § 647 [demurrer rulings are deemed excepted to]). The Court of Appeal summarily denied the petition. (See docket in B230233.) The City and Lewis

² Court of Appeal orders dated October 9 and 28, 2013, augmented the record with (1) two volumes of Exhibits to Motion to Augment Record on Appeal (Augmented CT 20) and (2) the reporter's transcript of the demurrer hearing (Augmented RT 8-9 [taking judicial notice]). This brief cites only the first volume of the augmented Clerk's Transcript and so does not include volume numbers in citations.

raised Civil Code section 3369 again in their trial brief. (5 CT 964-965, 968.)

4. The Trial.

The court held a bench trial in June 2012. (6 CT 1213.)

Leider requested, as an alternative to closing the elephant exhibit, that Billy be sent to an elephant "sanctuary." (6 CT 1215.)

5. The Statement of Decision.

a. The Court's Framework.

The trial court analyzed the three bases for injunctive relief in Code of Civil Procedure section 526a—illegal expenditures, waste, and injury to City property. (6 CT 1219, 1264-1265.) Relying on the Court of Appeal's prior opinion, the court noted that "all three prongs require some legal standard against which the governmental action can be measured" and that courts will "only 'restrict conduct that can be tested against legal standards.'" (6 CT 1218, quoting *Harman v. City and County of San Francisco* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 150, 160-161.)

- b. The Court Found Illegal Expenditures Based Upon Penal Code Violations.
 - (1) The Court Found Leider Entitled to an Injunction Under Penal Code Section 597t to Exercise the Elephants and Rototill the Exhibit's Soil.

Leider's primary claim has been that the elephant exhibit is insufficiently large and its substrates are abusively hard. (See 6 CT 1222.) Yet the court found Leider's evidence was "inconclusive" on the "seemingly crucial disputed issue" of how much space a captive elephant needs. (6 CT 1222.)

The court did find, however, that the substrates are too hard and create a risk of injury to the elephants' joints, feet, and nails, and that the exhibit was not being rototilled. (6 CT 1223, 1226.) The court credited a defense expert's testimony on the inevitability of captive elephants developing foot problems, with lack of exercise as the main culprit. (6 CT 1236-1239.) A minimum of one to two hours of walking exercise a day keeps elephants' joints, tendons, ligaments, and feet healthy—a minimum the LA Zoo did not meet. (6 CT 1236, 1261.)

Based on Penal Code section 597t, the trial court ordered the City and Lewis to exercise the elephants at least two hours a day and to rototill the exhibit's soil. (6 CT 1261-1262.)

(2) Leider Did Not Prove the City and Lewis Generally Abused Elephants in Violation of Penal Code Section 596.5, But the Court Enjoined Any Future Use of Bullhooks or Electric Shock.

The trial court considered Leider's claim under Penal Code section 596.5 that the exhibit constitutes illegal expenditures under Code of Civil Procedure section 526a. (6 CT 1219.) The City and Lewis could violate section 596.5 by (1) engaging in abusive behavior in general toward elephants (6 CT 1221-1248) or (2) engaging in the inappropriate methods of discipline listed in subdivisions (a) through (f) (6 CT 1248-1249).

The court addressed whether captivity is abuse under the statute. "Captivity is a terrible existence for any intelligent, self-aware species, which the undisputed evidence shows elephants are." (6 CT 1242, 1229 [elephants' quality of life is "particularly poor"].) The elephants engage in stereotypic behavior (meaningless activity such as head-bobbing or rocking) which stresses their joints and feet. (6 CT 1229.) The court was critical

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