### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

AARON LEIDER,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOHN LEWIS, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 26 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B244414

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## **CASSELMAN LAW GROUP**

DAVID B. CASSELMAN, BAR NO. 81657 5567 RESEDA BOULEVARD, SUITE 330 TARZANA, CALIFORNIA 91356 TELEPHONE: (818) 609-2300

## **ESNER, CHANG & BOYER**

STUART B. ESNER, BAR NO. 105666 234 EAST COLORADO BOULEVARD, SUITE 750 PASADENA, CALIFORNIA 91101 TELEPHONE: (626) 535-9860

Attorneys for Respondent AARON LEIDER

#### S232622

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

# ii) The Controlling Cases Confirm Leider I Implicitly Decided the Applicability of Civil Code §3369.

The analytical framework offered by Appellants (AOB:61) is erroneous. It mistakenly relies upon two cases, *Estate of Horman* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 62 and *Nally v. Grace Community Church* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 278. Both are inapposite.

Horman is a probate case involving individuals claiming an interest in an estate. The State prevailed at the first trial after establishing that the claimants failed to prove their relationship to the decedent. On appeal, the judgment was reversed. Before a later trial, the State claimed for the first time that Probate Code §1026 barred the action since claimants failed to bring the case to trial within five years. The trial court denied the challenge and allowed the action to proceed. This time, Claimants prevailed at trial. The State appealed, relying on the five-year rule.

The second appellate court analyzed whether the first appeal implicitly decided whether Probate Code §1026 barred the action or that law of the case foreclosed relitigation of the issue. The Court concluded that the first appellate court had not impliedly decided the issue. It

reasoned that Probate Code §1026 issue was not essential to the first appellate decision, which focused on whether claimants established the elements of their case. This Court also agreed, stating at 73–74:

"The questions presented and determined on the prior appeal in this case were whether the survivors had established the identity of the decedent and their relationship to him, the admissibility of certain evidence, the discretion of the trial court in denying the motions to reopen and for new trial and the trial court's failure to rule on the admissibility of certain evidence. [Citation omitted.] The Probate Code, section 1026 problem was not raised by either party and was not expressly determined by the court. Neither can it fairly be said that determination of the issue was essential to the decision. We have concluded, therefore, that the decision on the prior appeal did not foreclose the state from asserting this matter at the second trial."

In other words, since the initial appellate court could have issued its *substantive* rulings without determining the *procedural* applicability of

Probate Code §1026, there was no implicit decision on that issue. But, the factual and legal scenario presented here is entirely different. The precise issue of standing (being raised again now) was vigorously litigated at both the trial and appellate levels.

No new <u>issue</u> is being raised now, only a new argument, which was never asserted before. *Leider II* recognized this distinction, explaining the inapplicability of *Horman* at page 1092:

"We reject the City's reliance on *Estate of Horman* [Citation omitted], for the proposition that *Leider I* did not implicitly decide the new issue it raises here. ... In the final appeal, the Supreme Court rejected the survivors' contention that law of the case barred the State from raising Probate Code section 1026 because the State had not raised the issue during the first and second trials and appeals. The Supreme Court held that the earlier proceedings had reached only the <u>substantive</u> merits of the survivors' claims and therefore had not even implicitly reached the <u>procedural</u> time bar of Probate Code section 1026. [Citation omitted.]

We believe *Horman* is distinguishable because the new issue raised there was a procedural bar, while the earlier proceedings focused solely on the merits. In this case, as in *Yu* [citation omitted], the new issues raised—whether a taxpayer's action was proper based on violations of the Penal Code's animal abuse provisions—bore an analytically substantive relationship to the issues previously considered."

Appellants' reliance on *Nally v. Grace Community Church* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 278 is also misplaced, but for a different reason. *Nally* did not analyze whether an earlier court impliedly decided a point, thereby precluding later relitigation. Rather, *Nally* found the law of the case doctrine inapplicable because the party asserting it did so based on an erroneous premise. *Nally* explains at page 302:

"We perceive no obstacle under the law-of-the-case doctrine to reviewing the evidentiary question regarding the tape recording's admissibility. Contrary to plaintiffs' assertion that we are bound by a theoretical imposition of liability on defendants based on the findings in *Nally I*, the

Court of Appeal there found only that plaintiffs had raised a triable issue of fact sufficient to defeat a summary judgment motion, and therefore did not determine liability as plaintiffs seem to imply."

Nally thus only provides general support for the notion that the law of the case doctrine does not apply to points of law that might have been, but were not, (expressly or impliedly) determined on the prior appeal. (Id. at 302) Nally does not aid Appellants, who concede that issues implicitly decided are final, and law of the case. (AOB:60)

The focus of Appellants current claim is whether *Leider I* implicitly assessed the relevance of Civil Code §3369. But, the proper question is whether *Leider I* addressed and resolved **the standing issue**, not their belated §3369 **argument**. Examination of the controlling cases of *Yu*, *supra*, *Puritan Leasing Co. v. Superior Court* (1977) 76 Cal.App.3d 140 and *Nevcal Enterprises*, *Inc. v. Cal-Neva Lodge*, *Inc.* (1963) 217 Cal.App.2d 799 make this plain.

Yu is a perfect example of when an implicit finding bars later relitigation. The plaintiffs in Yu sought redress for improper debt

Assn. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 94 (Barquis), which held that a creditor who knowingly files a debt collection action in an improper forum to impair the debtor's ability to defend themselves is guilty of abuse of process and unfair business practices. The trial court granted summary judgment for defendants.

The Court of Appeal reversed, finding that triable issues of fact existed under the standards set forth in *Barquis*. That Court also found *Barquis* indistinguishable from the *Yu* action. When the case was returned to the trial court, defendants filed a demurrer, <u>arguing *Barquis*</u> was wrongly decided. The trial court sustained the demurrer without leave. Plaintiffs appealed again.

In the second appeal, the plaintiffs contended the demurrer was foreclosed by law of the case. The Court of Appeal agreed, noting at pages 309-310 that its prior holding impliedly determined that plaintiffs stated a valid cause of action and that *Barquis* was good law:

"The Yus contend that they have stated viable abuse of process and unlawful business practice causes of action

under the *Barquis* decision, and that the trial court's conclusions to the contrary violated the law of the case established in *Yu I*.

\* \* \*

In Yu I, we held that Barquis was not distinguishable from the Yus' case and that, under Barquis's standards, there were triable issues as to Banks' knowledge and intent that precluded summary judgment against the Yus on their abuse of process claim. [Citation omitted.] We thereby necessarily determined that the Yus had stated a cause of action for abuse of process, and that Barquis remained good law. Under the principles set forth in the preceding paragraph, those explicit and implicit conclusions of law established the law of the case, and could be reexamined only as required to account for changes in the law after Yu I, or to avoid an injustice. Since neither of those exceptions to the law of the case doctrine is applicable, the trial court's decision is untenable."

Given the factual and procedural similarities, this conclusion is directly relevant to this case. Yu succinctly explains that when a court makes an express finding that a triable issue of fact exists as to a cause of action, which thereby precludes summary judgment, that conclusion necessarily means it also made an implied finding that the underlying cause of action, if proven, entitles the plaintiff to relief. Thus, a later-filed demurrer claiming that no cause of action is stated is barred by law of the case.

That is the exact situation here. *Leider I* expressly found that triable issues of fact existed as to whether Appellants violated the Penal Code, finding standing under §526a. (*Leider I* at 2CT:252) Implicit in that standing determination is the conclusion that §3369 did not preclude standing to proceed under §526a. This claim directly contradicted the holding in *Leider I*. Indeed, even the trial court rejecting Appellants' demurrer recognized that the law of the case precluded their §3369 defense. (3CT:558-60) That order states at page 2-4:

"The demurrer is overruled because each count of the first amended complaint states a cause of action.

\* \* \*

The City demurs on the basis of section 3369 of the Civil Code. Section 3369 provides '[n]either specific nor preventive relief can be granted to enforce a penalty or forfeiture in any case, nor to enforce a penal law, except in a case of nuisance or as otherwise provided by law.' The City urges this section means equity will not enjoin a crime.

A respectable and deferential reading of the Culp decision suggests the Court of Appeal did not leave this issue open on remand. To accept the City's argument would render superfluous the entire appellate discussion of Penal Code section 596.5. If that is the proper reading of the Culp decision, the City will have to obtain that reading from the Court of Appeal."

Leider II later examined the same question after trial. It also found the §3369 argument barred by the law of the case, for the same reason. Focusing on the policy behind the doctrine, Leider II held at 1091-92:

"As the Yu court observed, '[l]itigants are not free to continually reinvent their position on legal issues that have been resolved against them by an appellate court,' because it would be absurd to place a party who has chosen not to argue a point on appeal in a better position than one who argued that point and lost. [Citation omitted.]

In short, the law of the case doctrine is not defeated by simply raising a new argument that is essentially a twist on an earlier unsuccessful argument. With this in mind, we see little difference between Yu and the facts of this case. In Leider I, the City argued that Leider could not maintain his taxpayer action for Penal Code animal abuse violations because those code sections did not provide a sufficient standard to make his claims justiciable. We rejected that contention, holding that the relevant Penal Code provisions supplied an adequate legal standard by which the City's conduct could be tested. [Citation omitted.]

In the present appeal, the City contends again that under its new theory Leider may not obtain injunctive relief for By deciding that the animal abuse statutes provided a sufficient legal standard to make Leider's taxpayer action justiciable, we also implicitly decided that California law permits section 526a actions based on violations of the Penal Code's animal abuse provisions.

In short, the City is simply trying to refine its earlier argument by asserting another reason why taxpayer actions are not proper when based on the animal abuse provisions of the Penal Code."

Puritan Leasing and Nevcal further illustrate this principle. In Puritan Leasing it was determined that a lease was valid and enforceable. This was found to be law of the case barring later claims that the lease was unenforceable based on mistake or fraud. (Puritan Leasing at 149)

In *Nevcal*, the determination that a contract was enforceable in its place of execution (California) became law of the case barring the defense that the contract was unenforceable in Nevada, the place of performance. The express finding that a contract was enforceable could

not have been reached without the implied finding that no valid contract enforceability defenses existed. *Nevcal* summarizes the point at 804:

"[T]he only point urged by government counsel in their opening brief is the issue of the contract's legality under Nevada law.

\* \* \*

The difficulty, however, with this argument is that the question of the contract's legality in Nevada was decided on the first appeal and is now the law of the case. [Fn. omitted.]

\* \* \*

The rule seems now to be fairly well settled that 'Where the particular point was essential to the decision, and the appellate judgment could not have been rendered without its determination, a necessary conclusion in support of the judgment is that it was determined.' [Citations removed'] In the present case, therefore, an essential condition

precedent to the previous determination of the contract's enforceability in California was its validity under the law of the place of performance, namely, Nevada; but for such determination it must be assumed that the judgment would not have been reversed. Or, as stated by plaintiff's counsel, 'The Appellate Opinion could not have been written if the District Court of Appeal had not found the contract to be valid in the place of performance. ...'"

Puritan Leasing and Nevcal are entirely analogous. The Leider I finding that there was no impediment to §526a standing, which would bar pursuit of a cause of action based on Penal Code violations, was in the words of Nevcal, an essential condition precedent to the conclusion that no statutory or other impediment to standing existed. The Leider I court could not have reached its stated opinion without that implicit finding.

///

///

///

///

# iii) The Analytical Framework Proffered By Appellants Contradicts Their Prior Positions.

Faced with the logical conclusion compelled by the decisions in *Yu*, *Puritan Leasing* and *Nevcal*, Appellants hope to convince this Court to apply a different legal analysis. Appellants thus recast the opinions of those courts, claiming they only sought to prevent litigants from trying to "have-it-both-ways." (AOB:66)

They characterize *Yu* as a case where the defendants took "different positions on the same ... case in two appeals." (AOB:66) They similarly characterize *Puritan Leasing* and *Nevcal*, claiming "the parties' later positions were inconsistent with earlier determinations on the same subject." (*Ibid.*) Applying this new "test" Appellants urge that their Civil Code §3369 defense is not similarly inconsistent.

But, in so doing, they hopelessly ignore the facts. They pretend that they have not urged inconsistent positions ... <u>precisely so they can have it both ways</u>. In *Leider II*, the Court of Appeal pointed out the fact that Appellants previously conceded (in *Leider I*) that <u>Leider had the</u>

right to challenge illegal government activity in its Section 526a action.

The Court characterized their core allegations at page 1090, as follows:

"The City acknowledged that a taxpayer action was proper when challenging 'illegal government action,' but argued that such an action was not proper where the real issue involved a disagreement over the manner in which the government has exercised its discretion to address a problem. The City also contended that the Penal Code provisions that Leider relied on did not provide a legal standard by which its treatment of the elephants could be measured."

14

Now, Appellants are taking the exact opposite position, claiming that a taxpayer action is <u>not proper</u> when challenging illegal government action, this time relying on a new argument, i.e. §3369. Appellants thus fail their own test.

However characterized, the essence of the "law of the case" doctrine is that new *arguments* cannot be raised to urge fundamentally the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Leider II was quoting from Appellants Respondents' Brief in Leider I.

Appellants urged a variety of arguments to block standing before ... and lost. Now, they hope to rely on new, and in some ways inconsistent arguments, to reach the same result they have always wanted.

Under any logical analysis, Appellants are barred by the law of the case from making seriatim arguments to deny standing in this action.

## c. There Is No Applicable Exception to Law of the Case

Appellants claim, without basis, that the "unjust decision" exception to the law of the case doctrine applies here. (AOB:67) This exception is intentionally difficult to establish. It requires the proponent to establish that a manifest misapplication of existing principles occurred, which resulted in substantial injustice. This Court in *People v. Shuey* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 835 explained this principle at 845-56:

"We pause finally to consider whether application of the doctrine in this case would result in an 'unjust decision.'

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